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PREFACE


About ten years ago I was browsing along the shelves of an antiquarian bookshop, enjoying the sensual pleasure of the rich bindings, the gilded lettering, the mental travel to places called Abyssinia, Okavango, Patagonia, Smyrna, when I saw a little 1844 book, Recollections of the Emperor Napoleon on the Island of St Helena by Mrs Abell. Who was she, I wondered, and what brush with infamy had she inflated? I turned the fragile pages to discover that she had been a young girl called Betsy Balcombe when the exiled Bonaparte in 1815 was brought to the remote South Atlantic island of St Helena where she and her family lived. She had seen much of him over the course of three years. But how and why, I wondered, did this English family come to socialise with their nation’s great enemy? And why did he bother with them? I bought the little book and found it a charming memoir. Mrs Abell, obviously a feisty person, wrote only about those three years on St Helena and revealed nothing of her later life except a hint of some tragedy. Who was she really?


I went back to work on other projects. However, Betsy’s book lingered in my mind and years later I returned, to seek the larger story behind the memoir. My attempt to answer those questions has led me on a detective trail to the manuscripts collection of the British Library, sifting through the vast correspondence of Sir Hudson Lowe and Lord Bathurst’s private papers; on a week’s voyage on the last operational Royal Mail ship to the island of St Helena, to work in its archives and visit locations where Betsy and her family lived and Napoleon was imprisoned; to the English counties of Sussex, Kent and Devon, to their record offices, and up to bleak Dartmoor; to the highlands of Scotland; to Paris and the northern French town of Saint-Omer; to old Madras in India; and to state archives and libraries in Australia as well as the Balcombes’ former homes in New South Wales and Victoria. The quest involved my reading several French journals by Napoleon’s companions never translated into English and making surprising discoveries that have not been revealed before.


Since the Victorian era, authors have interested themselves in Betsy’s story, sometimes as a children’s book, sometimes confabulating it as Napoleon’s last romance, rarely adding anything new to her Recollections. (A revised edition of Betsy’s book, titled To Befriend an Emperor, was published in 2005, making this delightful story available to the general public.) A direct Balcombe descendant, the redoubtable Melbourne figure Dame Mabel Brookes, in 1960 published St Helena Story, her own account of her forebears. It was a brave attempt and told part of the story, but she lacked the research tools available to a biographer today and left many gaps. She could only say of Betsy’s husband that he was reputedly ‘a handsome man-about-town’, whereas his family background and career are revealed here; she wrote that Mrs Betsy Abell lived in Sydney with her family ‘for a brief period’, when it was actually ten years.


Most books about Napoleon’s captivity focus on the compelling prisoner, his anguish and his anger and his last great battle with the authoritarian British governor Sir Hudson Lowe. This book deals with that struggle, but from the perspective of the British family on the sidelines, who also incurred Lowe’s wrath because of their friendship with his charge. Through their relationship with Napoleon they inevitably also became closely acquainted with his immediate companions on the island: his devoted chamberlain and biographer Count de Las Cases; the Count and Countess Bertrand; Count de Montholon and his wife; the temperamental General Gourgaud; the loyal valet Marchand; and Napoleon’s physician and the Balcombes’ good friend, the duplicitous Irishman Dr Barry O’Meara. As Bonaparte ruled over his little household, demanding imperial respect, settling their intrigues and disputes, we see the domestic Napoleon, ‘father’ of an unhappy, bickering family, still mentally refighting his old battles, deploying his armies of red and black pins across a billiard table, his prodigious brain fretting over trifles: the thickness of mattresses, the scrawniness of a roast chicken, the escape of a dairy cow.


We follow Betsy and the Balcombes as they leave St Helena under a cloud because of their dangerous friendship, only to confront larger and possibly life-threatening troubles in England; to another kind of exile in France; and then to the penal colony of New South Wales, at a time of transition to a new future in which they play significant parts. Although there are many references to Betsy, her father and the family in this new life, due to the shortage of source material in their own words, I have sometimes provided an imaginative interpretation of their possible feelings and responses to their changed circumstances.


Their transfer across the world reveals the rich network of connections between Britain and the colonies in the 1820s and 1830s, all controlled by the remarkable Lord Bathurst, Secretary of State for War and the Colonies, arbitrator and manager of the colonial governors, the prisoner Bonaparte, and the whole intricate skein of colonial connections.


This book argues that Napoleon, a master of strategy, had a particular reason for cultivating the Balcombes. It also answers how and why the lives of that English family on St Helena—the merchant William Balcombe, his wife who resembled the Empress Josephine, and their two pretty daughters, Betsy and Jane—came to be entangled with Bonaparte’s; and the reason why he was anxious to entangle them. Finally, it shows how their involvement with him would change Betsy and her family for ever, and cast a very long shadow over the rest of their lives.




PART


ONE
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A new Prometheus, I am attached to a rock


where a vulture is gnawing at me.


I had stolen the fire of heaven to endow France with it;


the fire has come back to its source, and here I am.


NAPOLEON BONAPARTE




CHAPTER 1


THE NEWS


When HMS Northumberland anchored in James Bay, accompanied by four men-of-war and three troopships, it became known that the prisoner would not be brought ashore for another two days.1 Word spread that it would be the most extraordinary event in living memory.


On the evening of 17 October 1815, people from all parts of the island made their way to the Jamestown waterfront, descending into the village, hemmed by mountains, by one of two steep roads. By dusk a great crowd had gathered at the narrow quay between the castle wall and the Atlantic Ocean.2


It did not take much persuasion for the merchant William Balcombe to agree that his wife and two daughters should witness the event. Betsy was thirteen and her sister Jane fifteen. Their little brothers Tom and Alexander, aged five and four, had to stay behind with their nurse, but their father knew that the girls would always remember the sight of the most powerful man in the world brought down to size. One of the Balcombes’ slave boys opened The Briars’ gates, guiding the horse cart with a lamp as they joined the Sidepath, the vertiginous road carved into the rocks by slave labour. The whole mountainside was aglow with dancing, glimmering lanterns as they joined the throng making the mile-long descent.


It was almost dark when they reached the marina. The whole population of St Helena, all 3500 of them, white, black, Asian and mulatto, bond and free, seemed to have gathered, their lanterns and torches bouncing and flaring. With apologies to this person and that, acknowledging familiar faces among the many strangers and soldiers, the Balcombes made their way through the crush. Betsy, just returned from school in England, could hardly believe that the island contained so many inhabitants. She found a position outside the castle wall near the drawbridge. Further along near the landing stage she made out the courtly figure of the governor wearing his plumed hat and full dress uniform. Beyond the row of sentries, the surf smashed and hissed on the rocks.


A hush descended on the watching crowd when the slap of oars was heard. As the tender approached from the looming dark hulk of the warship Northumberland, Betsy saw five huddled figures. They stepped onto the landing stage from the bobbing craft, and she heard someone say that the man in the middle was Bonaparte. He brushed past Governor Wilks, who had extended his hand in formal greeting, and walked up the lines between the British admiral and another important-looking man. Napoleon wore the familiar cocked hat but was enveloped in a greatcoat, and it was too dark to distinguish his features. The diamond star on his chest glinted within the coat’s folds as he walked.


The crowd surged forward. Sentries with fixed bayonets moved to clear a path. Hundreds of eyes glared at that solitary figure but no word of welcome was uttered. As he went past, Betsy caught a glimpse of the famous aquiline face, tight with anger, his eyes downcast. He said later that he had been gawked at ‘comme une bête féroce’—like a savage beast.3


A mere four days earlier, Colonel Mark Wilks, the island’s governor, had received the astounding message, brought by a fast sloop-of-war, that he and the motley inhabitants of their small remote island were about to play host to the most dangerous man on earth. The prisoner was on HMS Northumberland, accompanied by a flotilla of warships, and already sailing towards them.


News always came late to St Helena. It was an awesome distance to the rock marooned in the Atlantic between the African and South American continents, a dot on the charts known to seafarers, to British ships on the home route from the Far East, India and the Cape. It was said to be the most remote inhabited place on earth—1120 miles from the nearest land in Africa and over 2000 miles from the Brazilian coast.4 For the past decade and a half of the Napoleonic Wars it had gained importance as a strategic base, but the St Helenians could still dream in the sun and proceed with their lives in their own relaxed, insular way. Mail took ten weeks to come from London to Jamestown, the island’s capital and only town, so the locals were accustomed to receiving belated accounts of the goings-on in the world. At the same time they had their own important affairs and pursuits.


Governor Wilks was regular in sending his despatches to his masters in London, the directors of the Honourable East India Company in Leadenhall Street. His post was hardly taxing, a reward for services to the Company in India, where he had been Resident at Mysore. He took an interest in poultry-keeping and agricultural projects, the eradication of the introduced blackberry, the problem of the wild goats and sheep, while he worked on his memoirs and a book, Historical Sketches of the South of India. Described by an admirer as ‘a tall, handsome, venerable-looking man with white curling locks and a courtier-like manner’,5 he was gracious with important visitors to the island, attended St Paul’s church on Sundays, and hosted the odd fundraising levée and whist drive.6 There was the usual Governor’s Ball at the castle in Jamestown and an annual garden party at Plantation House, and those representing society on the island generally saw fit to attend. Many of these property owners were also employees of the East India Company as officers, administrators or merchants. Those islanders in private commerce depended upon the ships bringing news and trade goods.


In 1815, William Balcombe had his official duties as superintendent of public sales for the Company but also his separate interests as senior partner in the firm Balcombe, Cole and Company, supplying vessels calling at Jamestown. Saul Solomon, proprietor with his brothers Lewis and Joseph of the town’s only emporium—‘Ladies’ Fashions, Fabrics, Lace, Jewellery and Rosewater’—studied the papers for trends, knowing that styles would be half a year out of date by the time their order arrived (allowing three months for the requisition and three for the despatch) but that this did not matter to the ladies of St Helena as long as they kept pace with one another. The officers of the St Helena Regiment did a little trading on the side with ships returning from the East, while the regiment’s 890 soldiers drilled, their garrison having been constantly on alert during the long war years. The 1200 or so black and mulatto slaves employed by the Company worked in the vegetable gardens and on the boats supplying fish to the local population, and the few hundred Chinese ‘coolies’ hewed wood and hauled water for passing vessels, with often up to fifty ships anchored off Jamestown.


While few people in the outside world bothered with St Helena, the islanders were eager enough for accounts of the world; for the bundles of newspapers and magazines, letters from relatives and friends, the items of gossip, delivered by passing ships. The newspapers that had arrived in April indicated that 1815 in Europe was shaping up as a very mixed year. They read that His Majesty King George III remained lamentably unwell; his son the Prince Regent had declined to attend the Congress of Vienna but still danced attendance on his mistresses; he continued to build his Oriental folly and reduce the national exchequer. Questions had been put in Parliament but waited for an answer. Lady Hamilton, the mistress of Admiral Nelson (who had died heroically ten years earlier), had died in January, lonely and overweight; Lord Byron had married Annabella Milbanke, but no one expected the match to last; the daring waltz was finally in, the visiting Czar having given a demonstration at Almack’s Assembly Rooms; gaslights illuminated the London streets; and thin muslin dresses in the Parisian style were being worn by the girls in Vauxhall Gardens. In Africa, Shaka had become King of the Zulus; further afield, America had a new railroad charter, the first commercial cheese factory had opened in Switzerland, the Blue Mountains were finally crossed in the colony of New South Wales, and British missionaries packed Bibles for New Zealand to save the heathen Maori.


For years Napoleon Bonaparte was the leading story and a grim one, but for some nine months the English papers had been remarkably free of his outrages. The man who from the beginning of the century had dominated the news and the continent of Europe—with the notable exception of Russia—had from May 1814 languished in exile on Elba, an island off Italy in the Mediterranean Sea, where he survived very well. He was permitted the title ‘Emperor and Sovereign of the Isle of Elba’ and a new flag of his own design, featuring his beloved golden bees. He enjoyed the comforts of a modest palace, a large shabby villa high on the cliffs, and the presence of his mother, his favourite sister Pauline and a devoted group of courtiers. He had charmed the British commissioner, Colonel Sir Neil Campbell, and dined regularly with him. Some wondered if it was an oversight on his captors’ part that he was allowed a private army of 1000 men, including 600 of his loyal Old Guard.


Even from the perspective of a remote island in the South Atlantic, Europe must have seemed unrealistically calm. But in May 1815 an East India Company ship brought the St Helenians the alarming information that in late February Bonaparte had escaped from Elba. He entered Paris in triumph on 20 March 1815 to the cheering of thousands of Parisians who lined the streets—those who did not applaud kept their feelings to themselves—and he was carried shoulder-high to the Tuileries Palace to cries of ‘Vive l’Empereur!’


Then on 15 September a ship arrived at Jamestown bringing splendid news. Bonaparte’s new regime had lasted just ‘One Hundred Days’, as it came to be known. There had been an epic battle on the field of Waterloo in Flanders, conducted in an intermittent thunderstorm. The great warmonger had been defeated at last by a glorious British fighting force—there was grudging mention of Belgian and Dutch troops as well—led by the Commander-in-Chief, the Duke of Wellington. A Prussian force under General Blücher had arrived late to the battle. Bonaparte had escaped on horseback, weeping, it was claimed, into his saddle, but his days were numbered. France, after some silken diplomacy by the veteran courtier Talleyrand, was to be returned once again to the Bourbons.


Governor Wilks arranged for a royal salute to be fired in honour of the Waterloo triumph and approved celebrations at the garrison with an extra quota of wine for each soldier. He ordered that all prisoners, civil and military, be released, with the exception of a fellow awaiting trial for burglary. The island residents returned to their familiar routines.


But they were rudely awakened on 11 October. The news brought by Captain Devon of the Icarus, a sloop-of-war, was extraordinary, too much to take in all at once: Bonaparte, foiled in his plans to escape to America, had surrendered to a British ship at the French Atlantic port of Rochefort. The Allied powers, after convoluted negotiations (from which Prussia withdrew, preferring the firing-squad option), had reached agreement that while France, Austria and Russia would keep a watching brief, he was to be England’s prisoner and England’s problem.


But the most outrageous news was that the Monster of Europe, the Disturber of the World, the Corsican half-breed, the Villain Bonaparte, the Anti-Christ, the savage Butcher of Jaffa—no words were bad enough but all were used in the newspapers—was being brought into exile on their own peaceful island. His ship was on the seas behind the Icarus. He would be arriving in a few days’ time.


And for five and a half turbulent years, St Helena would become one of the most talked about places on earth.


‘Our little isle was suddenly frightened from its propriety,’ Betsy Balcombe wrote later in her Recollections, ‘by hearing that Napoleon Bonaparte was to be confined as a prisoner of state.’ She felt ‘excessive terror, and an undefined conviction that something awful would happen to us all, though of what nature I hardly knew’.7


The townsfolk had never been so rattled. It seemed unbelievable that the most evil man in the world, and not so long ago the most powerful, was within a few days’ sail and coming to live among them. Apart from the St Helena Regiment—their own garrison, provided by the East India Company—there would be a huge body of soldiers and seamen arriving with him, just to keep him secure, all of them to be housed and fed, taking over the streets and taverns of the little town. The prisoner was travelling with the largest guard ever assembled in European history to watch over a single man. HMS Northumberland, with Bonaparte aboard, was accompanied by four warships with 116 guns between them and three troopships transporting the 2nd Battalion of the 53rd Regiment of Foot.


Rumours were rife and anxieties noisily expressed. Just where was the prisoner to be kept? And would the soldiers be able to prevent him escaping the island, just as he gave his guards the slip on Elba? What was to prevent a raiding party of Frenchmen—or Americans for that matter—coming to rescue him? And as Boney made his escape, what was to stop his henchmen cutting all their throats? There were frightful visions of blood on the cobbled streets of Jamestown.


The captain of the Icarus had brought Colonel Wilks a ‘Secret letter’ from the British government, advising him of the arrival of the prisoner; it emphasised that in all matters relating to ‘General Napoleon Buonaparte’ he was to defer to Rear-Admiral Sir George Cockburn, commander of the fleet.8 Wilks was informed that the island would be removed from the jurisdiction of the East India Company, its traditional employer, and placed under British government administration. At the same time he received a confidential letter from the Company’s directors acknowledging ‘the high importance of effectually securing the person of a man whose conduct has proved so fatal to the happiness of the world’. Despite Wilks’s great merits, His Majesty’s Government had determined on appointing a new governor, a military man ‘of the class of General officers who served in the scene of the late continental events’.9 That officer was Major-General Hudson Lowe, most recently quartermaster-general to the Allied armies in the Netherlands and Belgium, who was then making his way from Europe to London. Lowe was to be promoted to the rank of lieutenant-general and created a Knight Commander of the Bath, befitting the gravity of his office as Bonaparte’s custodian.10


The immediate issues were housing and catering. The official ‘Secret letter’ stated that any residence on the island could be allocated for Bonaparte, ‘with the exception of the Governor’s Plantation House’. Wilks learned from the captain of the Icarus that a retinue was coming with the prisoner, not only his officers and servants but also some aristocratic Frenchwomen. He thought that Longwood House, the lieutenant-governor’s isolated summer residence, could be a possibility, but it was badly in need of repairs.


And what of Bonaparte’s Austrian wife, the former empress Marie Louise—would she be expecting to join him, although she had declined to do so on Elba? Rumour had it that the Austrian foreign minister, Prince Metternich, had thoughtfully organised a handsome aide-de-camp for her, Count von Neipperg, who had lost no time in becoming her lover; he was reputed to be ‘a perfect serpent in matters of seduction’.11 But if the lady chose to make the voyage, she was authentic royalty, the daughter of the Austrian Emperor, and conditions must meet her satisfaction.


With the fleet imminently arriving under the command of the rear-admiral, there would also be another 2000 sailors and soldiers and the massive logistical exercise of feeding them all. Most of the island’s food came from the Cape of Good Hope and shortages were chronic. It would be a challenge for the commissary-general and storekeeper, who allocated provisions brought by the twice-yearly storeship, and for Solomons Merchants and William Balcombe, the Company sales agent with a providore business on the side.


In fact, the merchants recognised splendid commercial opportunities in the new situation. Balcombe was pleased; as well as his providore business, he owned the Union brewery supplying beer to the garrison, and had an orchard and large vegetable garden at his home, The Briars. He would soon, like the Solomons, take advantage of the increase in the island’s population by doubling his prices. But there were negative implications for the merchants as well: with the island removed from the jurisdiction of the East India Company and patrolled by the Royal Navy, ships of other flags would be unable to call for water, victualling and trading, thereby limiting business. However, Balcombe was a man who looked in every setback for an opportunity and usually succeeded in finding one.


Few people were more agitated by the news than Balcombe’s younger daughter Betsy. Just five months earlier, she and her sister Jane had arrived back at the island with their mother from school in England.12 Believing Bonaparte was still incarcerated on Elba it had at last seemed safe to make the voyage. At their Nottinghamshire boarding school the girls had heard of Bonaparte’s outrages, the lands laid waste, the innocent souls massacred and, almost certainly, the whispered stories of unspeakable deeds perpetrated on young girls. The yellow cover of a contemporary English children’s primer bore a picture of Bonaparte brandishing a cat-o’-nine-tails, and nannies warned disobedient children that he would come down the chimney to snatch them.13 Betsy, a pretty adolescent with blonde curls, always a prankster and mischief-maker, was certain to have been chided by some grim teacher with a warning much in currency at the time, ‘Be good or Boney will get you!’, or by the more savage ‘Limb from limb he’ll tear you, just as pussy tears a mouse!’14


In 1812, her teachers had spoken gravely of his Russian campaign, how the buildings in Moscow were set on fire to repel him, and the devastating retreat of his great army in the snow. Hundreds of thousands of his soldiers died of starvation and frostbite, a horror that Betsy could not comprehend. What upset her most were the stories of the poor horses, not properly shod, slipping on ice and left to die or hacked at for food while still alive. And Bonaparte rode safely back to Paris in a carriage! She hated him! She knelt in church with the other girls and prayed for the successful progress of the war and a righteous victory for the great British Empire. But at night she tossed and turned in her narrow bed and the ogre with protruding teeth and one flaming red eye returned, his vast cape shadowed Europe and her own fevered thoughts; he circled like a vulture, swooping to leave battered, bleeding bodies and screaming horses in the snow. When she cried out, Jane would creep across the dormitory to hug her and smooth her hair.


And now here he was at her island home, walking right past her, the monster of her nightmares.




CHAPTER 2


THE PRISONER


From the deck in the dawn light, the island of St Helena appeared as a smudge on the grey horizon of the South Atlantic, a brooding apparition, something from Grimm. Another plunge and it was gone in a haze of sea mist and spume, a chimera. As we chugged closer, all that I’d read of its infamous, forbidding appearance could not prepare me for the starkness of those sheer basalt cliffs, their ridges shrouded in mist, plunging over 300 metres to murderous foaming rocks. All of us on deck were subdued.


‘It consists of one vast rock,’ wrote an 1815 visitor, ‘perpendicular on every side, like a castle, in the middle of the Ocean, whose natural walls are too high to be attempted by scaling ladders; nor is there the smallest beach except at the Bay . . . which is fortified with a strong battery of large cannon, and further defended by the perpetual dashing of prodigious waves against the shore, which, without further resistance, makes the landing difficult.’1


I was on the island’s own vessel, subsidised by the British government, RMS St Helena, the last operational Royal Mail ship in the world. There were 88 on board for this voyage, two-thirds of them St Helenians, or ‘Saints’ as they call themselves, descended from people stolen from the East Indies, Madagascar and Africa during two centuries of slave trading. It had taken five days to come from Cape Town, 3100 kilometres to the south-east, following the Benguela current, as did the great wandering albatrosses which occasionally and magically swooped in our wake.


We made a semi-circumnavigation north to the island’s only town and shipping roadstead, and a pod of some two hundred dolphins leaped and plunged beside us, the essence of life and joy. But as I gazed at those barren brown escarpments it seemed hard to credit that humans lived somewhere beyond them, that trees and grass grew, that birds sang. The island seemed saurian, like an ancient, hulking giant tortoise.


‘I almost feel sorry for Napoleon,’ I said.


‘He was a prisoner,’ growled an Afrikaner passenger, ‘he wasn’t coming here for any damned holiday. They should have shot him.’


‘The morning was pleasant, and the breeze steady,’ wrote William Warden, HMS Northumberland’s surgeon. ‘At dawn we were sufficiently near to behold the black peak of St Helena. Between eight and nine we were close under the Sugar-Loaf Hill. The whole of the French party had quitted their cabins, with the exception of Napoleon, and taken their respective stations. On the right stood Madame Montholon, with her arm entwined in that of the General her husband . . . On the poop-deck sat Madame Bertrand, and the Marshal stood behind her.’2


The flagship rounded a looming promontory behind the escort brigs and dropped anchor, heaving on the swell. Guns fired a salute from Munden’s battery on the cliff above, answered from the gun emplacement high up the mountain across the bay. Northumberland’s guns responded.


Bonaparte stayed below deck. His French courtiers, their children and servants, and the British officers and men stared at the forbidding crags. Countess Françoise-Elisabeth Bertrand, born to an Irish military father—General Arthur Dillon—and a French mother from Martinique, was a woman of the world, equally at home in France, Britain, Italy and the Caribbean, but she was in despair contemplating this godforsaken rock. She said it was something the devil had shat on his way to hell.3 Fanny, as her friends called her, was accustomed to the glittering life of the Tuileries palace where her husband had been Grand Marshal. It was feared that, in horror at what her husband’s loyalty had committed them to, she might throw herself through a porthole again. She had attempted this once before, off the British port of Torbay. This supremely elegant woman had been rescued when jammed halfway out, an undignified position.4 ‘Madame Bertrand really did attempt to throw herself into the Sea,’ wrote an aristocratic English gossip, ‘but there was stage effect in it, as assistance was so near at hand.’5


The Bertrands had shared Bonaparte’s previous exile on the island of Elba, occupying a large comfortable villa with pleasant gardens. At the prospect of this new, infinitely harsher banishment, she had persuaded her husband they should endure twelve months at most. He risked a death sentence in France but she had highly placed relatives in England.


Bonaparte did not leave his cabin for a full hour after they had anchored. Closely watched by Dr Warden, who set down his impressions for posterity, the portly man in the green Chasseurs uniform then ascended to the poop deck ‘and there stood, examining with his little glass the numerous cannon which bristled in his view. I observed him with the utmost attention . . . and could not discover, in his countenance, the least symptoms of strong or particular sensations.’6


The prisoner saw a compact settlement squeezed into a ravine between the steep sides of two mountains, their bare slopes devoid of vegetation and surmounted by gun emplacements. Behind a defensive wall at the waterfront were the whitewashed ramparts of the governor’s castle with the Union Jack flapping above and the square tower of the Anglican church; beyond them, pastel-coloured houses straggled the length of the narrow valley.


The former emperor’s dress was meticulous, presenting the image that had long become iconic: the cocked hat, the green cutaway coat with the scarlet cuffs, the Légion d’Honneur flashing on his waistcoat, the white breeches kept spotless by his 24-year-old valet Louis-Joseph Marchand. He was soon joined by his new personal physician—the appointment still a surprise to them both—Irishman Dr Barry O’Meara.


Admiral Sir George Cockburn, Knight Commander of the Bath, appeared in full dress uniform, ready to go ashore with Colonel Sir George Ridout Bingham, commander of the 2nd Battalion of the 53rd Regiment. During the voyage the admiral had formed a tolerable relationship with Bonaparte, walking with him on deck of an evening, allowing him to preside at mealtimes, and actually standing up in deference when he left the saloon. But such courtesies were about to end. He carried instructions from Lord Henry Bathurst, Secretary of State for War and the Colonies, conveying the wishes of the Prince Regent: ‘His Royal Highness . . . relies on Sir George Cockburn’s known zeal and energy of character that he will not allow himself to be betrayed into any improvident relaxation of his duty.’7 The prisoner, as far as British policy was concerned, was to be addressed as ‘General Bonaparte’—or preferably ‘General Buonaparte’, the Corsican spelling offering further disparagement. There was to be no emperor arriving on the island.


Bonaparte retreated to his cabin to brood, telling General Gourgaud, a former ordnance officer: ‘It is not an attractive place. I should have done better to remain in Egypt. By now, I would be Emperor of all the East.’ Madame Bertrand turned to the attentive man behind her with her own decided opinion: ‘Oh, Dr Warden, we are indeed too good for St Helena!’8


Taking in the whole scene was Count de Las Cases, the diminutive French aristocrat and the emperor’s former chamberlain who was to become Napoleon’s Boswell. When the anchor was put down in James Bay, he wrote: ‘This was the first link of the chain that was to bind the modern Prometheus to his rock.’9


The mythologising had commenced.


After his defeat at Waterloo, Napoleon had fled back to Paris, conceding only that all was lost ‘for the present!’ He remained confident of raising another army—but found that the French people now craved only peace. The Allies refused to negotiate terms while he remained in power. In the end he had abdicated rather than be deposed, but only after his strict condition was granted, the proclamation of his four-year-old son as Napoleon II. But the little emperor’s ‘reign’ was less than two weeks, because the Duke of Wellington had other ideas. Instead, he proclaimed the return of the Bourbons and invited Louis XVIII, the overweight successor to his executed brother Louis XVI, back to Versailles.


Meanwhile, Bonaparte stayed on at the Elysée palace. Here he met with his ex-wife Josephine’s daughter, Hortense, who was both his stepdaughter and, through her marriage to his brother Louis, his sister-in-law. He sought Hortense’s permission to come to the Château de la Malmaison where, in the days of the Consulate and before his marriage to Josephine soured, he had enjoyed family life with his wife and her children. When he had heard news of Josephine’s death in May 1814 when he was in exile on Elba, it was said that he locked himself in his room for two days.


Hortense still liked to be addressed as the ‘Queen of Holland’; Louis Bonaparte had been imposed on the Dutch throne by his imperial brother but had now been supplanted, and the couple had long since separated. It was an open secret in Paris that Hortense was involved in a passionate affair with General Auguste Charles, Comte de Flahaut, Napoleon’s aide-de-camp in the Russian campaign and at Waterloo.10 Four years earlier, in Switzerland, she had given birth to a son by Flahaut; it had been discreetly arranged for the child to be raised by a landowner in the West Indies.


Friends advised Hortense against taking Napoleon into her home but she did not heed them. Bonaparte’s mother and brothers arrived at Malmaison with a group of supporters. Among them was Hortense’s lover, Comte de Flahaut, who soon left on a hopeless mission to request more time from the provisional French government. However, he will appear again in an unexpected role in this story.


Instead of making his escape, Bonaparte lingered five days in some kind of emotional paralysis, reading novels and essays about America, where he planned to seek refuge. An adviser had suggested that from there ‘you can continue to make your enemies tremble. If France falls back under the Bourbon yoke, your presence in a free country will sustain national opinion here.’11 He thought often about Josephine and told her daughter: ‘Poor Josephine, I cannot get used to living here without her. I always expect to see her emerging from a path gathering one of those flowers which she so loved . . . How beautiful La Malmaison is! Wouldn’t it be pleasant, Hortense, if we could stay here?’ ‘I could not reply,’ wrote Hortense, ‘my voice would have betrayed all my emotion.’12


Guns rumbled in the distance. Blücher’s Prussian army was advancing fast and Bonaparte’s options for escape were closing. He decided at last to quit the country with his brother Joseph and sail to America—but he knew that the English anticipated this and their navy blocked the Channel. With Joseph and some faithful officers and servants he would aim instead for the port of Rochefort on the Bay of Biscay.


Finally, Bonaparte stood facing his strong-willed mother, Letizia, known throughout Europe as ‘Madame Mère’. Hortense reported that they gazed silently at each other, then Letizia stretched out both her hands towards him and in a clear sonorous voice said: ‘Farewell, my son!’ He gathered her hands in his, looked long and affectionately in her face and, with a voice as firm as hers, exclaimed: ‘Farewell, my mother!’13


Travelling in a series of carriages, spaced well apart, the fugitives reached Rochefort on 8 July. The valet Marchand rode in a carriage crammed with the accoutrements of gracious living that he had hurriedly packed—his master’s campaign bed, table linen, a Sèvres porcelain dinner service, gold plates, silverware, an assortment of snuff boxes and almost six hundred books. At Rochefort the group boarded the frigate La Saale, but it could not weigh anchor for Boston. The harbour was emphatically blocked by the 74-gun British warship HMS Bellerophon and two naval frigates.


Bonaparte resolved to surrender, bargaining on the British sense of justice he claimed to admire. He told General Bertrand: ‘It is better to risk confiding oneself to their honour than to be handed over to them as de jure prisoners.’ He had in fact few alternatives: the naval blockade prevented his escape by sea, while General Blücher and the Bourbons wanted him shot. First though, on 13 July, he penned a grandiloquent letter to the Prince Regent, comparing the English royal to the King of the Persians who offered safe harbour to his enemy:




Royal Highness—A victim to the factions which divide my country, and to the enmity of the greatest Powers of Europe, I have terminated my political career, and I come, like Themistocles, to place myself at the hearth of the British people. I place myself under the protection of their laws, which I claim of your Royal Highness as of the most powerful, the most constant and the most generous of my enemies.


—Napoleon14





It is doubtful if the Regent saw the letter until much later, but when he did, despite his image as a wastrel and a rake, the reference from Plutarch’s Lives would not have been lost on him; he was said to be ‘probably the only prince in Europe . . . competent to peruse the Greek as well as the Roman poets and historians in their own language’.15


Bonaparte sent Gourgaud and Las Cases under a flag of truce to deliver the letter to the Bellerophon. They were well received by Captain Frederick Maitland. Two days later, the former emperor and his companions stepped aboard the great warship, veteran of the battles of the Nile and Trafalgar, known affectionately by its crew as the ‘Billy Ruffian’. As they came on deck the officers and seamen formed a parade of honour. A midshipman left an account: ‘And now came the little great man himself, wrapped up in his grey great coat, buttoned to the chin, three-cocked hat and Hussar boots, without any sword, I suppose as emblematical of his changed condition. Maitland received him with every mark of respect . . .’16


‘He is extremely curious,’ wrote one of the officers. ‘Nothing escapes his notice; his eyes are in every place and on every object . . . He immediately asks an explanation of the ropes, blocks, masts and yards, and all the machinery of the ship. He also stops and asks the officers questions relative to the time they have been in the service, what actions, &c, and he caused all of us to be introduced to him the first day he came on board . . . He inquired into the situation of the seamen, their pay, prize money, clothes, food, tobacco &c, and when told of their being supplied by a Purser or Commissary, asked if he was not a rogue!’17


Meanwhile, the devoted Marchand—a famous exception to the adage that ‘No man is a hero to his valet’—had arranged that the 250,000 francs they had managed to hide from British investigation, their reserve against hard times, ‘were in eight belts that we put around our bodies’.18 Walking in the stern gallery with Las Cases, Napoleon cautiously withdrew a weighty velvet band from under his waistcoat and gave it to his companion. The count wrote: ‘The Emperor told me soon after that it contained a diamond necklace, worth two hundred thousand francs, which Queen Hortensia forced him to accept on his leaving Malmaison.’19


The men on board were bound to romanticise their brush with the most compelling figure in contemporary history, having actually found him human. One of them wrote: ‘If the people of England knew him as well as we do, they would not hurt a hair of his head.’20 Captain Maitland wrote in his book that although it might appear surprising that a British officer could be ‘prejudiced in favour of one who had caused so many calamities to his country, to such an extent did he possess the power of pleasing, there are few people who could have sat at the same table with him for nearly a month, as I did, without feeling a sensation of pity, allied perhaps to regret, that a man possessed of so many fascinating qualities, and who had held so high a station in life, should be reduced to the situation in which I saw him’.21


But for all the graciousness and goodwill, when Bonaparte boarded the Bellerophon he had taken an irrevocable step: he was from that moment until the end of his life a prisoner of Great Britain.




CHAPTER 3


FRIENDS AND FOES


Friendly Saints extended helping hands as we stepped from the rocking launch onto the landing place. I could see that when a swell was running this could be tricky. (The island’s governor, welcoming Prince Andrew in 1984, famously lost his footing and suffered a dunking, much replayed on UK television.)


RMS St Helena was moored out in the bay, its derricks already unloading vital cargo onto a barge, everything from frozen meat to roofing iron, refrigerators, cars, carrots, and cats and dogs. Our luggage, brought by an earlier barge, was stacked in the customs shed, where a copper-skinned policewoman—in her British bobby’s uniform and chequerboard bowler—led a beagle on a sniffing inspection. Returning Saints hugged family and friends they had not seen for months, sometimes far longer. The isolation of the island and the poor local wages mean that many residents have become long-distance commuters, taking up jobs in the UK, the Falkland Islands, and at the British and American bases on Ascension Island, returning on the ‘RMS’ when they can. The economic necessity of such unwieldy commuting will change for many of them when the airport under construction is completed. Tourism is the great hope.


My companion and I were greeted by our new landlord, Edward Thorpe, a tall young man from one of the oldest English families on the island. Passengers were already signing up for excursions. Of the thirty or so tourists from the ship, mainly from South Africa, few had expressed much interest in the island’s most famous exile. They were coming for the stark scenery, the Georgian buildings, the formidable hiking trails, and to visit the graves of some two hundred Boer War prisoners. However, most would devote a few hours of the nine-day stay—while the RMS made a circuit 1120 kilometres north-west to Ascension Island—to the ‘Napoleonic tour’ of Longwood House, ‘the Tomb’ and The Briars Pavilion.


‘Well, Papa, have you seen him?’ William Balcombe’s children at The Briars rushed him on his return from visiting the Northumberland.


He had not, although he had paid his respects to General and Madame Bertrand, General and Madame de Montholon and General Baron Gourgaud. He had been in discussion with Admiral Sir George Cockburn and Governor Wilks, who had decided that the prisoner and a few of his companions could be temporarily accommodated at Henry Porteous’s boarding house at the bottom of the main street next to the castle gardens, while the French servants would be billeted in nearby cottages. This was a concession on the admiral’s part. Officially he was empowered to insist they all stay on board until a suitable house was ready. The choice of that house had still to be made.


During Balcombe’s meeting with the admiral he was handed a sealed letter from the London mail brought by the flagship. It bore the House of Lords insignia and was from his patron, Sir Thomas Tyrwhitt, Gentleman Usher of the Black Rod in the House of Lords. This ceremonial position, established during the reign of Henry VIII, was by decree given to ‘a gentleman famous in arms and blood’. He controlled entry of ‘Strangers’ to the House, made staff appointments and carried an ebony rod surmounted by a golden lion for all state occasions; he could arrest any lord guilty of breach of privilege or of disturbing the House’s proceedings. During the opening of Parliament, ‘Black Rod’ carried the King’s command to the House of Commons to attend him in the House of Lords.


But another factor altogether meant that Sir Thomas Tyrwhitt was close to the very centre of power in Britain. He had been an intimate friend and trusted confidant of George Augustus, the Prince Regent, for 26 years, ever since they met at Oxford and discovered they shared the same sense of humour and even the same birthday—12 August 1762. The then Prince of Wales invited his new friend to occupy an apartment at Carlton House, his sumptuous London mansion, and made him his unofficial secretary, confirmed a few years later. Tyrwhitt, a diminutive, bustling, rosy-cheeked man, rapidly became a favourite of both King George III and Queen Charlotte and of the royal princes and princesses, who described him with patronising affection as ‘the Saint’ or ‘our little red dwarf ’.1 Nonetheless, he commanded great respect and for several years acted ‘as sole mediator between the King and the prince during the time they spent apart in mutual dislike and disagreement’.2 While the King was often impatient with his spendthrift son, he always had time for his ‘old friend Tom Tyrwhitt’.3


In the nineteenth century, ‘interest’, the influence of a powerful person, was essential to advance in the professions. Horace Walpole pronounced that ‘Merit is useless: it is interest alone that can push a man forward. By dint of interest one of my coach-horses might become poet laureate, and the other, physician to the Royal household.’4 ‘Interest’ was virtually indispensable, and William Balcombe, said to be merely the son of a fisherman from the Sussex village of Rottingdean, obviously had access to it from a very high level. Those on St Helena who knew of the connection with Sir Thomas—and Balcombe had little hesitation in mentioning it—wondered how and why this influential man showed such concern for his young protégé:




5th August 1815


Dear Balcombe,


Napoleon is about to proceed to your island so quickly that there seems some doubt whether this dispatch will reach Plymouth in time to catch the Northumberland. Since yesterday Beatson has forwarded me a very strong letter indeed, recommending you to Sir George Cockburn as Naval Agent. This letter goes in this cover to him and I sincerely hope it will answer the purpose intended . . .





Sir George promptly approved the appointment, which would have gratified Balcombe, for, with the island now placed under government administration, his merchant’s business was going to become severely restricted. The new position involved much the same service, supplying vessels, but the difference was that they would be exclusively of the British navy or East India Company, with few chances for private trade. But Sir Thomas had a further suggestion, a potentially lucrative one concerning the prisoner’s possible accommodation: ‘It appears that Ministers will not pledge themselves to purchase any particular spot, but that all is to be left to the choice of two commanders, as to what place is best adapted to confine Napoleon comfortably but severely. Beatson thinks that when this inspection has taken place, they will fix upon The Briars.’5


Major-General Alexander Beatson had been St Helena’s energetic governor from 1808 to 1813. After his recall he was promoted, in recognition of his efficient administration of the island and especially for his suppression of a mutiny by soldiers at the garrison in 1811. He executed the ringleaders. In Beatson’s despatch to the East India Company’s Court of Directors concerning that episode, he had praised the assistance of William Balcombe among a handful of loyal residents. The merchant had returned the compliment by naming his youngest son, born in that year, Alexander Beatson Balcombe, which, according to convention, meant that the governor became godfather to the boy. Soon afterwards, Balcombe was granted a lucrative licence to operate a brewery supplying beer to the island garrison.6


Even though he and his family were greatly attached to their home, Balcombe had no objection to Sir Thomas’s idea of renting it out, for there could be handsome compensation in making it available to the French, so that it would be well worth him leasing elsewhere.


Meanwhile, red-coated soldiers of the 53rd Regiment had come ashore from the transports and now patrolled the town. Every promontory was suddenly out of bounds, manned by armed sentries in sight of each other and able to communicate by a complex set of signals. Cannon were placed on ledges and in apertures in cliffs. Posters went up around the island, plastered on buildings and on rocks, formally announcing the detention of ‘General N. Buonaparte’ and serving notice that: ‘This is to warn all inhabitants and other persons on this island from aiding and abetting hereafter in any way whatsoever the escape of the said General and that of any of the French persons with him, and to interdict most pointedly the holding of any communication or correspondence with them. Any person presuming to act in violation of this ordinance will be immediately sent off the island to be further punished as the circumstances appear to deserve.’7


Napoleon did not come ashore until the evening of 17 October and he refused to meet with the official party at the landing stage. There was time enough to encounter the governor of this savage little island. He found it hard to forgive the way he had been treated as a common exhibit, gaped at like a wild animal in Josephine’s menagerie at Malmaison, a zebra or ridiculous kangourou!


Sir George Cockburn understood that the situation was difficult for the preservation of dignity. He ensured that an armed guard kept the jostling crowd at bay as he escorted Bonaparte and his French companions across the drawbridge, through the town gates, past the castle entrance and its gardens to the three-storey lodging house owned by Henry Porteous. Bonaparte detested the tall narrow building as soon as he saw it and complained of its very public situation and lack of a private courtyard. He was no happier when he inspected the arrangements inside.


As night set in, most of the crowd dispersed. Still holding lanterns and torches, people wended their way, mounted or on foot, up Ladder Hill or the Sidepath. But a few of the curious still loitered outside the Porteous house. Among them was Thomas Brooke, secretary of the governing council and the island’s first historian; he hoped to see a legendary figure at the candlelit windows, ‘everyone anxious to catch a glance whilst he walked up and down the room’. Brooke was astonished to be invited inside by the admiral and his credentials announced: ‘I was accordingly ushered up to Buonaparte, who was standing, and introduced in regular form. His first words were “Hah! L’auteur de l’Histoire de St Hélène.” He then said he had read it on the passage . . . I observed that I trusted he would find the interior of the island more prepossessing in appearance than the first view of it might lead him to expect.’8


[image: image]


Three months earlier, at dawn on 24 July, Bonaparte had stood on the quarterdeck of HMS Bellerophon next to Captain Maitland and gazed through his field glass at the port of Torbay, the sea cliffs of Devon and green pastureland beyond. As the ship sailed on to Plymouth, he was astonished to find himself massively feted. They were surrounded by an immense clutter of small craft, filled with the curious, desperate to see the infamous enemy. Marchand tells us that ‘accompanied by the grand marshal [General Bertrand], he went on deck and showed himself to the eager crowd . . . But a painful scene for us was that a few ships with our prisoners wounded at Waterloo sailed by, some distance from the Bellerophon.’9 Within the month some 4000 French prisoners were marched 25 miles up to the grim granite prison on Dartmoor, established in 1809 by none other than Sir Thomas Tyrwhitt, who, as Member of Parliament for Plymouth before he was appointed Black Rod in 1812, had seen the opportunity.


The Bellerophon was at Plymouth for three weeks. During that time, Admiral Viscount Keith, Commander-in-Chief of the Channel Fleet, was responsible for the security of the prisoner and represented the voice of the British government.10 The Times urged government ministers ‘to do their duty and rid the world of a monster’,11 but it seemed ‘the whole population of the country, without distinction of rank or sex’, was descending on the port for a glimpse of him.12 ‘I am worryed to death with idle folk coming, even from Glasgow, to see him,’ Admiral Keith complained to his daughter. ‘There is no nation so foolish as we are!’13


An officer reported that people had flocked from all parts of the country to see Bonaparte. His every appearance on deck was an event for thousands of citizens who came out in tour boats and waved their hats. Upwards of a thousand boats were from morning to night around the warship, and its seamen were willing to give an account of Napoleon’s movements for the avid spectators. They wrote in chalk on a board, and exhibited a short account of his different occupations: ‘At breakfast’, ‘In the cabin with Capt. Maitland’, ‘Writing with his officers’, ‘Going to dinner’, ‘Coming upon deck’, et cetera.14 One of the ship’s officers reported that the ‘great number of well-dressed females . . . never failed to attract his particular attention . . . He appeared greatly pleased with the beauty and elegance of our fair countrywomen, and was always wishing to know their names, families, and any circumstance that could be communicated to him concerning them.’15


The celebrity prisoner understood that he was awaiting the Prince Regent’s decision. He hoped for a refuge in the English countryside and ruminated on the best place to retire as a county gentleman, perhaps to the Cotswolds under the name ‘Colonel Muiron’, after a fallen comrade-in-arms, so as not to cause a local fuss.16 The ministers of the ailing George III did not trust Bonaparte’s charm nor his ability to flatter the suggestible and vainglorious prince, whom the Duke of Wellington privately described as ‘the most extraordinary compound of talent, wit, buffoonery, obstinacy and good feeling that I ever saw in any character in my life’.17 They joined Admiral Lord Keith in the view that if the defeated emperor ‘obtained an interview with His Royal Highness, in half an hour they would have been the best friends in England’.18 The commotion about him at Plymouth demonstrated ‘his genius for upheaval’, his capacity for exciting a movement of sympathisers. The Prime Minister, Lord Liverpool, advised: ‘We are all decidedly of opinion that it would not answer to confine him to this country . . . Very nice legal questions might arise upon the subject, which would be particularly embarrassing.’ They obtained the agreement of the Allies in wishing him deported somewhere so remote that even he would find it impossible to abscond, and took up the Admiralty’s suggestion, supported by Wellington, that the island of St Helena was ‘the place in the world best calculated for the confinement of such a person’.19


Although Bonaparte had heard rumours, it still came like a physical blow when told he was destined for the remote Atlantic rock which had once been considered as an alternative exile to Elba. (Another, almost as bad, had been Botany Bay in New South Wales.) Bonaparte was instructed to select twelve servants and ‘three principals’ to accompany him. Of the fifteen officers who clamoured to join him—either through loyalty, misplaced ambition or calculated avarice, or to escape a death sentence in France—at last he chose generals Bertrand and de Montholon and Count de Las Cases. The British agreed to increase the number to 26 to include the generals’ wives and children, the count’s adolescent son Emmanuel, a physician, and more servants to personally attend them all. Some of these volunteers had been with Bonaparte on Elba.


General Baron Gaspard Gourgaud, a temperamental bachelor aged 31 was not initially chosen, for he was not a personal friend or a military officer of long standing, although he had taken part in the Russian disaster and was more of a campaign veteran than the effete Montholon. But he caused such a violent emotional scene, pleading to be with his emperor, that Napoleon reluctantly included him. To do so he was obliged to attach him as one of the principals and to designate the aristocratic Las Cases as merely his secretary, in effect a servant.


As it happened, Dr O’Meara, the Irish senior surgeon on the Bellerophon, had attended members of the French party—mainly for seasickness—during the voyage from Rochefort and had made a good impression on Napoleon.20 The two enjoyed several conversations in Italian, a language in which O’Meara was fluent, and discussed Napoleon’s conquest of Egypt, where the surgeon had been. Bonaparte proposed that O’Meara be seconded as his personal physician. The request went up to Admiral Lord Keith and was acceded to readily, because of the opportunity the position offered for close observation. O’Meara, in the self-justificatory introduction to the book he would publish after Bonaparte’s death, stated that ‘this was an employment which I could hold perfectly consistent with my honour, and with the duty I owed to my country and my sovereign’.21


O’Meara had already sent a lively description of Bonaparte and his French companions to his friend John Finlaison, a senior clerk at the Admiralty, where Lord Melville was First Sea Lord. At Plymouth he received a reply: ‘My Dear Barry—Thanks for your kind letter which was so extremely interesting that I showed it to Lord Melville, who made some corrections in it and then expressly permitted and was well pleased that I should insert it in the Sun of tomorrow. This will do you no harm. You will on no account mention this to a soul, except your Captain if you find that necessary for your justification in having written. I cannot tell you now my reasons for printing it. When we meet you will find them good as they are partly political. It is the highest authority that did it.’22 The following day an item appeared in the Sun and the Plymouth Telegraph reporting that a gentleman who saw Bonaparte regularly said that recent newspaper reports that Bonaparte was unhappy at the prospect of going to St Helena were incorrect: the Corsican seemed quite cheerful about going and frequently laughed.23


On 7 August, the French party was transferred to HMS Northumberland under Sir George Cockburn. The admiral permitted an English friend, Lord Lyttelton, to make a visit aboard. The aristocrat spoke good French and was introduced to Bonaparte. Afterwards, Lyttelton observed of the two wives in the French entourage that they were completely different in look and manner: ‘Madame Bertrand, who had behaved with great violence in the Bellerophon, seemed rather exhausted than pacified, and had a look of great irritation and impatience. She is a tall, thin woman, with an aquiline nose, very like Lord Dillon, to whom she is, I believe, rather nearly related.24 Madame Montholon, on the other hand, had all the quiet resignation that so well becomes her sex, and one could not help sympathising with her sufferings so meekly borne. She is a pretty woman, of a sweet and intelligent countenance.’25


Albine Hélène de Montholon was grieving. She and her third husband were travelling with their three-year-old son Tristan, but they had left behind in France her twelve-year-old boy from an earlier marriage and their own baby son, born the previous year, in the care of a wet nurse; Montholon had deemed him too young to travel. During this voyage to St Helena, as if in protest, Albine became pregnant again.


Napoleon was presented to the Northumberland’s flag captain, Charles Ross, who felt disappointed, as he had never seen a picture that showed Napoleon as he really was: ‘He appears by no means that active man he is said to be. He is fat, rather what we call pot-bellied, and altho’ his leg is well-shaped, it is rather clumsy and his walk appears rather affected, something between a waddle and a swagger . . . He is very sallow and quite light grey eyes, rather thin greasy-looking brown hair, and is altogether a very nasty, priest-like looking fellow.’26


On 11 August, the Northumberland, with 1080 people on board, set sail. It was said that Bonaparte stood on deck for five hours, gazing at the receding coast of France; when it slipped from sight he was distraught.27


During the Northumberland’s 71 days at sea, twenty of them becalmed in the doldrums, Napoleon wondered aloud what to do with the dreary future stretching ahead. ‘Sire,’ answered Count de Las Cases, ‘we will live in the past—there is surely enough there to satisfy us! Do we not enjoy the Lives of Caesar and Alexander? We will have a still better: you will, Sire, re-read yourself!’ ‘Yes,’ Napoleon agreed, ‘we must work. Work is also the scythe of time.’28


The dictation of the memoirs began, the count hunched in a corner of the cabin, creasing his old naval uniform, his quill scratching across parchment. Dr Warden was amused by his ‘diminutive appearance’. Some Englishmen, he wrote, had ‘expected Herculean figures to be employed in the service of a man who had lately bestrode so large a portion of Europe’, whereas ‘Count de Las Cases does not exceed five feet and an inch in height, and appears to be fifty years of age, of a meagre form, and with a wrinkled forehead’.29


Bonaparte and Admiral Cockburn occupied cabins either side of the saloon and were civil without going out of their way to be friendly. The admiral deplored the prisoner’s habit of bolting his food—despatching his evening meal in fifteen minutes—and then abruptly leaving the table.30 Sir George Bingham thought he was a secret drunk: ‘he drinks regularly his bottle of wine at dinner; a bottle of claret is always carried into his cabin at breakfast, which never comes out again, but as his servants have no dislike to it, they possibly assist him’.31 (Bonaparte was in fact abstemious and tended to see the British as drunks.)


When they briefly hove to at the island of Madeira, Bonaparte looked down at the assemblage of people on the shore and remarked to Dr Warden ‘that he never beheld women with such beautiful bosoms’. Warden noted for his fiancée Miss Hutt: ‘He is very anxious to know every particular respecting the females inhabiting the island of St Helena. Upon my word, I scarcely think Bonaparte can live without a wife.’32


The former emperor walked the deck with the admiral and played games with Tom Pipes, Cockburn’s huge and amiable Newfoundland, throwing bones along the boards for the dog to retrieve, or he sat on a cannon and gazed at the flying fish. One day when a shark was caught, ‘Bonaparte’, wrote the admiral’s secretary John Glover, ‘with the eagerness of a schoolboy scrambled on the poop to see it’.33


He even took a few English lessons from Las Cases—who had spent years as an émigré teacher in Britain and promised he would have him reading an English newspaper in the course of a month. The lessons were soon cut short by Bonaparte’s pronouncement: ‘I well know that you think me a very clever fellow; but be that as it may, I cannot do everything; and among those things which I should find impracticable, is the making myself master of the English language in a few weeks.’34


Bonaparte’s questing intelligence was forever alert, collecting facts that might be of value, classifying and storing them in his capacious brain. He gained an astute understanding from Cipriani Franceschi, his butler and a fellow Corsican, about whom it was worth talking to, and who might provide useful information to help him win freedom. Cipriani’s espionage skills had made possible the escape from Elba and he would continue to be his master’s eyes and ears on their new island of exile.


Dr O’Meara became Napoleon’s companion for a regular game of whist and Italian conversation, so excluding others of the party. Barry O’Meara was 29 years old, a native of County Cork with an idiosyncratic past.35 He had previously been in the British army, serving in Sicily, where he had gained his knowledge of the Italian language. But he had contravened military regulations by acting as second in a duel and was court-martialled and dismissed. He had then contrived to join the Royal Navy as a surgeon. He retained an abiding resentment of the British army, and showed sympathy towards the former emperor for his difficult situation.


General Gourgaud simmered with resentment to see his hero enjoying such friendly relations with the Irishman. From the beginning he had his suspicions that the man was a British spy, ingratiating himself for a purpose. He was not altogether wrong. O’Meara was preparing an account of the voyage for Finlaison, aware now that it was likely to be read by First Sea Lord Melville, and perhaps by ‘the highest authority’, the Prince Regent. While waspish about some of the French, his comments about the prisoner were benign, simply describing his daily routine, the hours he got up, walked about, dined and retired. ‘He generally spoke a few words to every officer who could understand him; and according to his usual custom, was very inquisitive relative to various subjects.’36 When the clerk Finlaison received the letter, he passed it on to his immediate superior, John Wilson Croker, the influential Secretary to the Admiralty and a regular at the Prince Regent’s Carlton House dinners. A request came back from Croker to sight all further correspondence from O’Meara, in order to pass it up higher.




CHAPTER 4


THE BRIARS


I was quite prepared for the awefulness—and even the awfulness—of St Helena; what I had not expected was to fall in love with the island.


White fairy terns swooped against the harsh volcanic cliffs, and old cannon lay rusting along the waterfront marina. We passed over a moat—once there was a drawbridge—and through an archway in the town’s massive stone wall. Inside was an almost perfectly preserved Georgian main street, like a film set for a Jane Austen or Thackeray adaptation—as long as one’s eye did not stray to the grim cliffs looming on either side. The whitewashed castle—a seventeenth-century fort of the English East India Company—is still the centre of government administration. With brass cannon at its entrance and orange bougainvillea festooning the ramparts, it dominates the parade square and faces the old Company bond store and the eighteenth-century St James’s Anglican church. Next to it is the prison with its cheerful blue balcony and accommodation for just twelve miscreants. Behind are the basalt slopes of Ladder Hill and an almost vertical staircase called Jacob’s Ladder with 699 steps to the fort above. Brightly coloured Georgian houses, some with slave entrances to cellars, line the main street, along with a handful of shops, the post office and the Consulate Hotel, its wrought-iron balconies overhanging the footpath.


Accommodation for the ship’s tourists had been booked beforehand—at the Consulate or other lodgings in Jamestown. My companion and I had an apartment in a classic Georgian building in Market Street above Thorpe & Sons’ grocery store. There were comfortable couches, a Regency dining table, and a mahogany glass-fronted bookcase with volumes of Scott, Dickens and Charles Kingsley. Through tall windows we looked across at the brown cliffs and the fairy terns wheeling and shrieking.


For a long time St Helena has appeared an oddity, lost in a British imperial time warp. Overwhelmingly Anglican, its population varies now between 4500 and 5800, as transient workers for the building of the airport come and go, but they have His Lordship the Bishop presiding at St Paul’s cathedral and His Lordship the Chief Justice at the Supreme Court; His Excellency the Governor is chauffeured from Plantation House to his office at the castle in a black Jaguar with a Union Jack pennant, and until a few years ago donned a white-plumed hat for ceremonial occasions. Painted in big white letters on the cliffs above is the greeting ‘We Welcome You Prince Andrew’, still there from the prince’s 1984 visit as a member of the armed forces. Most shops display a fading portrait of the Queen.


Apart from the mostly local government employees coming in and out of the castle, tapping smartly over the cobblestones clutching files, it was evident that the people of working age had generally fled; most Saints in town appeared to be adolescent or younger, or older than fifty. But everyone I passed gave a friendly greeting in the soft singsong St Helenian accent, said to be a throwback to eighteenth-century English—part Dickensian Cockney, part West Country burr—blended with African cadences.


Admiral Cockburn elected to stay at the castle, where he had access to the warships in the bay, rather than be a guest at Plantation House, the governor’s mansion out of town. It was determined that Bonaparte’s permanent home would be Longwood House, up on the high plateau, remote enough to serve as a prison. It had recently been occupied by the lieutenant-governor and his family as a summer retreat from the humidity of Jamestown, but its earlier use was as a cattle house and barn, to which some rough additions had been made. It was dilapidated and at least two months’ work would be needed before it could be acceptable accommodation.


Because of this decision, the Balcombe family did not have to vacate The Briars, although William probably regretted the compensation he would have been offered. He had first rented The Briars property in early 1806, not long after he and his family had settled on the island, and he bought it one year later when he was made superintendent of public sales for the East India Company. It was one of the most favoured locations on the island, a vale on the sheltered middle level, protected from the prevailing winds, with a waterfall tumbling over a horseshoe-shaped cliff into a deep gorge behind the homestead.


The house was in the style of a long Indian villa, with an upper section of three rooms; it had shuttered windows and a colonnaded verandah along the front onto which the ground floor rooms opened.1 The kitchen was in a separate building, while the twenty slaves lived in huts at the rear. Balcombe had statutory ownership of seven men, four women, four boys and five girls.2 Slavery was still legal on the island—the last outpost of empire where it was—despite the British government’s legislation four years earlier against the transportation of human beings. Toby, the old Malay gardener, although a slave, was allowed his own hut in the orchard. He had made the garden of The Briars envied throughout the island for its beauty and productivity, while Balcombe enjoyed a profit of £600 a year selling the fruit and vegetables.


A leafy avenue of banyan trees and myrtles led from the front gates to the little paradise Toby had created. A creamy froth of pink and white roses, the sweetbriars that gave the place its name, mingled with geraniums and nasturtiums. Beyond was the orchard of oranges, guavas, mangoes and figs, with vegetable beds near the kitchen door. Pomegranate trees shaded a sloping path up to a little summer-house pavilion that Balcombe had constructed as a ballroom and occasional accommodation for guests and visiting officials of the East India Company.3


The eldest Balcombe boy, William, aged seven in 1815, had been left to continue his education in England under the guardianship of Sir Thomas Tyrwhitt. William’s sisters had been ‘finished’ at Mrs Clarke’s genteel Ladies’ Boarding School in Mansfield, Nottinghamshire, where they had learned ‘French, Music, Dancing, Drawing, Geography and the Use of Globes’ with ‘the greatest Care taken of the Morals and Conduct of the Pupils’.4 The school was some 60 miles from South Cave in Yorkshire where the girls had spent holidays with their aunt, Mrs Balcombe’s sister, and her stockbroker husband.


Once the Napoleonic Wars had seemed at an end and the perpetrator safely held on Elba, it had been possible for ordinary people to risk sea travel once more. Mrs Jane Balcombe had sailed to England at the beginning of 1815 to bring her daughters back home. Even without the threat of French warships, the voyage would have been a trial for this charming and attractive woman who suffered indifferent health. Although she was well liked in the island community, the isolation disagreed with her: she wrote to a relative that life on St Helena was ‘worse than being transported to Botany Bay’.5


The girls were thrilled to return to the island. They found their father stouter than ever, more prone to gout, as volatile in temperament, but still for the most part cheerful and gregarious. Betsy was glad to abandon the strictures of school, to be petted and fussed over by their old black nurse Sarah Timms, to run barefoot in the garden, to lie on the grass by the fishpond and let the sun beat down on her face. She had grown up clambering up and down the island’s rocky slopes and gorges. Up on the misty heights she had revelled in flocks of canaries twittering through the trees and huge spiderwebs shimmering between ancient tree ferns. Sometimes the sisters had followed the tortuous descent to a pool beneath the waterfall that cascaded behind their house, just deep enough to swim in after heavy rain.


But now they were young ladies of thirteen and fifteen and so had to forsake such escapades. Their duty henceforth was to acquire domestic skills and drawing-room graces to equip them for marriage to a gentleman of good prospects—or, if they were very fortunate or very pretty, as Betsy indeed was—perhaps to a gentleman of wealth and distinction. But this future held little attraction for Betsy Balcombe.


On Bonaparte’s first full day on St Helena, the admiral planned a tour of the island, concluding with an inspection of Longwood. We know from General Gourgaud’s journal that the outing started badly: the admiral and Governor Wilks arrived early on horseback at the Porteous house, accompanied by soldiers bringing two splendid horses for the former emperor and his marshal. But Napoleon was in no mood to be hurried. He had resented being subjected to the rude public gaze the previous night, he considered his room at the lodgings inferior, there was no private garden, and he was outraged to find a huddle of locals pointing at him and shouting as he passed a window. He took his time getting ready in his Chasseurs uniform; when he and General Bertrand emerged, they found the admiral already on his horse, irritable at being forced to wait.


As the party of riders ascended the Sidepath that morning, the horses found the gradient heavy going. Valet Marchand recalled in his memoirs that the emperor looked across the valley and ‘saw a small house located in a site that seemed pleasant and picturesque. He was told it belonged to Mr Balcombe; he continued on his way but proposed to stop there on his return; he preferred in effect to stay in its little hut, if Longwood was not habitable, to the house in town where he could not move without being stared at by passers-by.’6


Napoleon knew about the governor’s residence, Plantation House, a handsome Georgian mansion set in gardens and parkland. He indicated that it would be an acceptable home for himself and his retinue, but was told that a prisoner could not enjoy superior accommodation to the governor, and in any case the East India Company had specifically precluded it. Nor was the castle in Jamestown an option; it was the administrative centre, the admiral himself was staying there, and it opened directly onto the marina and the shipping roads. Great Britain was prepared to grant ‘the General’ certain comforts and freedoms, but not at any place with access to the sea.


The group rode beside bare rocky slopes studded with aloe, cactus and prickly pear. But as they climbed higher the air became cooler and the hillsides greener, the narrow track sheltered by cedars and cypresses, pines and firs. They circled a yawning crater known as the Devil’s Punchbowl and came out onto a wind-blasted plateau. This was the location of the rickety collection of buildings Bonaparte and his retinue were to occupy.


Marchand observed drily that the emperor ‘was not particularly enchanted with the house that enjoyed no shade or water, and was exposed to the southeast wind that prevailed there constantly and was quite strong at the present time’.7 The house had gaping holes in the walls, rats’ droppings on the floors and manure smells exuding from underneath. Bonaparte said that repairs would take months and that he doubted whether any projected improvements could ever make the place attractive. The only advantage he could see was the extensive plateau for horse riding.


They descended by the Sidepath and Bonaparte reminded the admiral of his wish to see The Briars. Marchand recorded that on their way there, ‘the Emperor told him that if the good man of the house had no objection to his staying in the pavilion, which was twenty-five paces from the house, he preferred to stay there than return to the town’.8 Napoleon’s suggestion was surprisingly modest, but the admiral knew that the merchant was in fact willing to let the whole house and he no doubt recognised that this could provide a temporary solution.


The Balcombe children sighted the riders coming down the slope towards The Briars, and the man they most dreaded was with them. Betsy felt so anxious ‘that I wished to run and hide myself until they were gone’, but her mother bade her stay, for she spoke French better than anyone in the family, having excelled in it at school.


The party came through the gates and, as there was no carriage road right up to the house, Admiral Cockburn and General Bertrand politely dismounted. However, the imperious figure in the green Chasseurs uniform clearly felt no compunction about staying on his mount, ‘his horse’s feet cutting up the turf on our pretty lawn’.


The grown-up Betsy—Mrs Lucia Elizabeth Abell—wrote of that first meeting between her thirteen-year-old self and the most malignant figure of the age:




How vividly I recollect my feelings of dread, mingled with admiration, as I now first looked upon him whom I had learned to fear so much. His appearance on horseback was noble and imposing. The animal he rode was a superb one; his colour jet black; and as he proudly stepped up the avenue, arching his neck and champing his bit, I thought he looked worthy to be the bearer of him who was once the ruler of nearly the whole European world.


Napoleon’s position on horseback, by adding height to his figure, supplied all that was wanting to make me think him the most majestic person I had ever seen. His dress was green and covered with orders, and his saddle and housings were crimson velvet richly embroidered with gold. He alighted at our house and we all moved to the entrance to receive him.


On a nearer approach, Napoleon, contrasting, as his shorter figure did, with the noble height and aristocratic bearing of Sir George Cockburn, lost something of the dignity which had so much struck me on first seeing him. He was deadly pale, and I thought his features, though cold and immovable and somewhat stern, were exceedingly beautiful.9





The deposed ruler of half the world was gracious when introduced to Mrs Balcombe and the two girls. Balcombe himself was upstairs in bed with a bad attack of gout.


Betsy barely noticed the admiral, in his full dress uniform, nor General Comte de Henri-Gatien Bertrand, a slightly built but distinguished officer with heavy eyebrows, long side whiskers and a thin tonsure of hair. All her attention was focused on Napoleon. He stepped into the drawing room and seated himself in one of their little cottage chairs, his shrewd glance appraising the furnishings. He complimented Mrs Balcombe on the attractiveness of her home and engaged in small talk, probably with the admiral as interpreter. Betsy did not have to translate after all, and recalled that she shamelessly scrutinised Napoleon, observing his pallid complexion, his fine, silky hair, his neat dimpled hands and, most of all, the beauty of his clear blue-grey eyes. When he smiled at her, revealing teeth stained from eating licorice, she had to suppress a giggle.


But soon the point of the visit became clear, and Napoleon’s proposal was put to William Balcombe upstairs. Marchand described the eager response: ‘When they arrived at the house, the request was made to the owner, confined to his bed by gout, who agreed wholeheartedly; he even wanted to give over the whole of his house. The Emperor thanked him but refused to accept; he replied that he would with pleasure occupy the pavilion, which was detached from the main house, provided that the family’s habits were not disturbed.’10


This was remarkably considerate of Bonaparte towards a family he had never met before, and in fact such fine concern was unnecessary, as we know from Balcombe’s correspondence that he was more than willing to let the whole house for a handsome return and may have been disappointed not to do so. The Briars was well situated for security, a mile from the sea, bordered by a mountain on one side and a yawning gorge on the other, and the main building would have accommodated Napoleon and his principal companions, with the pavilion for a few of the servants. It was regarded as one of the most attractive residences on the island, in one of the most temperate situations. Perhaps only the governor’s Plantation House was superior, and Napoleon had not hesitated to request the whole of that. Marchand makes clear in his memoir that his master wanted to occupy the pavilion even before he had seen it. With the Balcombes remaining in the main house, he would inevitably become closely acquainted with this English family. That may well have been his intention all along.


Only after the decision was made did he inspect the little building, walking along the path under the pomegranate trees and up a flight of steps. Betsy wrote that its position, on a grassy eminence with the waterfall splashing into the ravine behind it, pleased him greatly. The interior was a single room, some 20 feet by 15, empty, with a thick layer of dust on the floor. Its windows, one of them broken, lacked shutters and curtains, but looked out to the cascade and a distant view of Diana’s Peak. Some narrow stairs, little better than a ladder, led up to a low loft space. As children, Betsy and Jane had watched from the loft when their parents hosted parties and dances there. Bonaparte announced that he wanted to stay that very night, that he did not care to see Jamestown ever again until the happy day he could leave the wretched island.


The admiral raised ‘the cramped nature of this lodging’. Staying at The Briars’ main house was feasible but the little pavilion was absurd. There were 26 in the French retinue. Where, in that little hut, would they all fit? General Bertrand and his wife, General de Montholon and his, all their various children, their maidservants, General Gourgaud, Count de Las Cases and his son, not to mention a butler, two valets, a footman, a cook, a steward, an usher, a coachman and a groom?! It was impossible! But Napoleon was not to be dissuaded. His people should remain in town at the Porteous lodgings. He had too many people around him altogether; he would welcome time alone. He advised Bertrand to return to Jamestown where his good wife was waiting for him, and Marchand should fetch his campaign bed. On the morrow, Las Cases should come to continue work on the memoirs. The rest of them were to live in town until the execrable Longwood House was ready. ‘The admiral promptly acquiesced to his desire and the grand marshal returned to town alone.’11


Hurried arrangements were under way as Admiral Cockburn and Bertrand made their departure. A captain and two soldiers were appointed as sentries at the front gates. Mrs Balcombe gave instructions to the servants, who bustled between the house and pavilion with duster, broom and bucket.


Meanwhile, their new tenant made a leisurely and apparently favourable inspection of the garden. He noticed Betsy watching him from a wary distance and signalled for chairs to be brought onto the lawn. He sat in one and beckoned to her to seat herself opposite, which she did, she wrote later, with a thumping heart. He asked where she had learned to speak French. She told him they had once had a French servant in England and that it was her favourite subject at school. He wanted to know if she had studied history and geography, and startled her with a test:12 ‘What is the capital of France?’


‘Paris, of course!’


‘D’accord! And of Italy?’


‘Rome.’


‘Of Russia?’


She thought about it and answered: ‘Petersburg now . . . and Moscow formerly.’


‘So what happened to Moscow?’


‘It was burned to the ground.’


He fixed her with severe eyes and demanded: ‘Qui l’a brûlé? Who burned it?’


His expression was so intense she was out of her depth. She stammered: ‘Monsieur, je ne sais pas. I don’t know.’


‘Oui, oui,’ he laughed. ‘Vous savez très bien, c’est moi qui l’a brûlé!’


She believed that was not right. He did not set fire to Moscow. She gained courage and said: ‘I believe, sir, that the Russians burned it to get rid of the French.’13


In her account he laughed and slapped his knee at the bold answer. He was delighted with her. It was a long time since he had encountered such blunt honesty.


William Balcombe was well pleased with the extraordinary new arrangement. This amiable and hospitable man, known for the amplitude of his table, rose from his bed to host dinner for their new house guest.


Balcombe and his wife ‘spoke French with difficulty’, and Jane was less fluent than her sister, so the burden for the evening’s conversation rested on Betsy’s unworldly shoulders.14 It is hard to imagine what was passing through the mind of the fallen emperor, sharing a repast for the first time in his life with ordinary English citizens, a people he had sought to conquer and rule. Mrs Balcombe was vivacious, relieved not to be losing her home. Napoleon found her very attractive: he later confided to Betsy that her mother bore a remarkable resemblance to the Empress Josephine.


Napoleon’s approach with someone he found of potential use was to fire a salvo of questions: how long had they held a particular position, what had they done before, and had they seen military action? He would have been interested to hear that Balcombe had been a midshipman who saw action in the West Indies, for he always expressed admiration for the Royal Navy, while disparaging the British army. Balcombe had then gone to India as a ship’s officer with the East India Company. Bonaparte was fascinated by the Indian subcontinent, which he had planned to conquer after Egypt. It is reasonable to speculate that he would have questioned his new host about his three long trading voyages to Madras and Bengal for the Company. After all, Napoleon made personal queries of most English people he met; how much more likely was he to do so with the man whose home he now occupied? And about whom he may already have heard certain rumours concerning his important connections?


They repaired to the parlour and sat appreciatively as Jane played the piano. Napoleon asked Betsy whether she liked music, adding: ‘You are too young to play yourself, of course.’ She wrote that she felt piqued by this and told him she could both play and sing. He requested an offering, so she sang, as well as she could, ‘Ye Banks and Braes’. When she had finished he declared it was the prettiest English air he had ever heard.


‘It’s a Scottish ballad, Your Majesty.’


‘Then that accounts for it. Of course it is too pretty to be English! Their music is vile—the worst in the world!’


He enquired if she knew any French songs; for instance, did she know Grétry’s ‘Vive Henri Quatre’? Betsy had never heard of it. He began to hum, left his seat and strutted about the room, tonelessly singing while pumping his arm in time.


Mrs Balcombe and Jane applauded politely. Very pleased with himself, Napoleon asked Betsy what she thought. She shook her head, reluctant to speak, favouring him with her smile instead. He encouraged her, beaming. He now knew that she was no court flatterer; her opinion could be worth hearing.


She said simply: ‘I didn’t like it at all!’


‘Why ever not?’


‘I couldn’t make out any tune.’


‘No tune?’ He tweaked her ear. ‘You are just saying that to provoke me.’


‘No, sir, I’m just trying to tell the truth.’


No one had ever criticised his singing. Perhaps honesty was not always so delightful. Mrs Balcombe, who had missed most of the exchange, was surprised when their guest made an abrupt move to depart. Betsy observed: ‘The emperor retired for the night shortly after my little attempt to amuse him, and this terminated his first day at the Briars.’15


At the Porteous lodgings in Jamestown, General Gourgaud finished a desultory meal as he listened to Bertrand’s account of the day’s events, the unsatisfactory tour of Longwood and the arrangement that had been made at The Briars. That evening he wrote in his journal: ‘Bertrand remarks that there are two pretty young ladies at The Briars, and that I shall be able to marry.’16




CHAPTER 5


THE PAVILION


I walked past the Consulate Hotel down the steep main street, at the bottom of which the RMS St Helena, still at anchor, was framed in the town wall’s archway. With some surprise I noted the sign ‘Solomon & Company’ on a substantial building—the largest island merchant during Napoleon’s captivity and apparently still. At the colonnaded post office they were doing the brisk business only possible when a ship was in, selling St Helena’s colourful stamps to tourists. In 1815, Joseph Cole was the postmaster in the same building. He shared the office space with William Balcombe, superintendent of public sales for the East India Company and senior partner in their private trading business, Balcombe, Cole & Company.


Although there is a Napoleon Street in Jamestown, it seems few locals waste time thinking about the exiled emperor, who was a disgruntled resident for less than six of the island’s rich and varied history of more than five hundred years. A white-bearded Anglican priest with a country parish told me: ‘Back in 1815 the Saints flocked to the waterfront. They saw this little man arrive and found him very uninteresting and they’ve remained uninterested ever since.’


But it is altogether a different matter for visitors to the island. One of the most popular excursions is a charabanc tour of the ‘Napoleonic sites’, the three French ‘domaines’ looked after by the honorary French consul and Napoleonic scholar Michel Dancoisne-Martineau. I booked for the Napoleonic tour: Longwood House; the empty Tomb where the emperor’s corpse was interred for nineteen years before its return to France; and The Briars. I was pleased that the first stop would be the latter, William Balcombe’s old property where Bonaparte stayed for two months in the summer-house pavilion.


It was all activity at The Briars, where a guardhouse had been established at the front gates. An oxcart was coming from town with ‘the General’s’ baggage, while two of his followers walked up the steep Sidepath to settle their master into his new premises. The young valet Marchand enjoyed the physical exercise after the long sea voyage. A talented artist, he had purchased a set of paints during the Madeira stopover, and was now exhilarated by the dramatic scenery.1 The diminutive Count de Las Cases, who lagged behind, was 49 years of age but looked older, with mournful but refined features, a sharp nose, and coarse grey hair tied at the back.


They were questioned by the British captain on duty at The Briars before proceeding to the pavilion. Marchand saw that the Balcombes were going out of their way to make Napoleon comfortable: ‘The hostess and her two lovely daughters offered everything that could contribute to the furnishing of the room for the Emperor; I accepted a few chairs, an armchair and a table; what Noverraz was bringing from town would soon allow the Emperor to settle into his usual habits. At the Briars one had to consider oneself to be camping; the Emperor had around him the furnishings of a field tent.’2 However, Napoleon was accustomed to field tents, having spent more time in them than in palaces.


Las Cases was delighted to see the solitary figure of Napoleon outside the pavilion, gazing at the view, and advanced to salute him.


‘Ah,’ said the emperor, ‘here you are! Why have you not brought your son?’


‘Sire,’ replied Las Cases, ‘the respect, the consideration I owe you prevented me.’


‘Oh, you must learn to dispense with that,’ said Napoleon. ‘Bring your son to me.’3


The count’s fourteen-year-old son Emmanuel had been removed from his lycée to accompany his father and the deposed emperor. The boy’s mother had remained in France, appalled by the prospect of America, let alone St Helena.


Las Cases had a rather grand lineage. A nobleman of the ancien régime, with the full title Marie Joseph Emmanuel Auguste Dieudonné, Comte de Las Cases, he was the elder son of a marquis.4 During the Terror of 1793 he was an obvious candidate for the guillotine and escaped from France. With other desperate aristocrats he had thrown himself into an English coal ship and remembered being treated ‘exactly like a cargo of negroes’. They landed on the banks of the Thames a great distance from London and he stumbled on foot to the city.5


The count’s memoirs describe how he eked out an existence giving French lessons but was rescued from penury by Lady Clavering, a Frenchwoman living with her English baronet husband.6 In 1802 (during the Peace of Amiens), Las Cases accompanied his employers to France as tutor to their children. Through old connections by then returned to favour, he met Bonaparte, and was soon in thrall to him, becoming convinced that he was ‘the most extraordinary man who has appeared for centuries’.7 He offered his life in service to his hero. In 1804, the Emperor Napoleon appointed him a chamberlain or Councillor of State at his court and made him a Baron of the Empire. Although Las Cases’ devotion was unquestioned, many people found it astonishing that he volunteered for exile on St Helena. But there is little doubt that he had a shrewd idea of the value of becoming the deposed emperor’s memorialist, and he applied himself seriously to the task, honoured to record the great man’s account of how Europe had been won—and so inexplicably lost.


It was now agreed that the count and his son would live with Napoleon at the pavilion, sleeping in the tiny loft space and by day recording a description of his campaigns for the benefit of history. Napoleon himself took a sceptical view of the benefit of history and believed it would do ‘what it usually does with those who have won a hundred battles but lost the final one. For what is history, but a fable agreed upon?’ But he thought it worth telling some fables of his own.


The count spoke excellent English, a relief for the Balcombes to have an efficient interpreter.


[image: image]


William Balcombe and Admiral Cockburn had been busy trying to sort out the financial and logistical details. Balcombe informed his patron in England that he had become the first Englishman in history to entertain Napoleon Bonaparte as a house guest, which was braggadocio of the highest order: ‘He is very affable and pleasant, plays at cards with us and speaks French with my Daughters, amuses himself about the garden and appears in very good spirits . . .’


In the rest of his letter of 20 October to Tyrwhitt he quickly got down to business. He explained that the admiral had recommended to the British government that he should have an adequate salary for supplying Bonaparte’s wants: ‘I assure you that I have enough to do to supply his Table and it is a very arduous task to do it at this place. Sir G. Cockburn has advised me to write to you to recommend to Government something handsome may be allowed me per Annum for my trouble. I should be satisfied if they were to give 7½ per cent upon what his expences amount to per Annum. The Admiral says he would fix a salary here but he is sure you will be able to get me more than he is authorised to give. I feel extremely grateful for your kindness and shall do everything in my power to deserve it.’8


Cockburn meanwhile was writing an official despatch to John Wilson Croker, Secretary to the Admiralty (unaware that Croker was privy to recent developments through Dr O’Meara’s letters to the clerk Finlaison). He asked the Lords of the Admiralty to advise on ‘the expenses to be incurred for the maintenance of General Bonaparte and his followers on this island’.


The admiral was in a quandary. His instructions, while exasperatingly vague, specified ‘that, as far as it may prove practicable, such comforts and establishment as are usually enjoyed by officers bearing the rank of full General should be allowed to General Bonaparte, and a table of eight covers kept for him, with everything else in a similar ratio’. He was obliged to do this without a budget allocated by government. The French themselves, as far as he knew (they had managed to deceive him), had carried little apart from some silver plate, a handsome set of Sèvres porcelain and a negligible amount of money, the last since confiscated and transmitted to Treasury. In the circumstances, Cockburn proposed drawing such sums as were needed from the island’s commissary. He explained that to enable him to do this at the cheapest rate and avoid being exploited, ‘I have engaged a Mr Balcombe, a respectable inhabitant, strongly recommended to me by Colonel Beatson before I quitted England, and by the Governor since my arrival, as most conversant and efficient in such matters, to purvey for me, and generally to assist me in procuring the several things it becomes necessary for me to purchase upon the island’.9
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